THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Larry B. Hyman, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-002056
Lower Case Nos. 2014-GS-22-00803 | 2014-GS-22-00804

RECEIVED

JUN 21 2019

SC Court of Appeals

The State,Respondent,

v.

Randy Collins,Appellant,

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

E. Brandon Gaskins (S.C. Bar No. 72374)
Moore & Van Allen PLLC
78 Wentworth Street
Charleston, SC 29401
Phone: (843) 579-7038
Facsimile: (843) 579-7099
brandongaskins@mvalaw.com

Court Appointed Lead Counsel for Appellant

Robert M. Dudek, Chief Appellate Defender
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN RULING THAT APPELLANT'S CONFESSION WAS VOLUNTARILY GIVEN?

- II. DID THE TRIAL COURT ERR IN REFUSING TO REQUIRE FURTHER EVALUATION OF APPELLANT FOR COMPETENCY TO STAND TRIAL BASED ON INDICATIONS THAT HE SUFFERED FROM INTELLECTUAL DISABILITIES?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On June 5, 2014, arrest warrants were issued for Appellant Randy Collins on charges of arson, first degree, and criminal conspiracy in connection with a fire that burned a mobile home near Andrews, Georgetown County, that resulted in the death of David Coombs. (Arrest Warrants 2014A221080082 and 2014A221080082.) The grand jury for Georgetown County issued indictments against Mr. Collins on August 20, 2014 for criminal conspiracy; arson, first degree; and murder. (Indictments 2014-GS-22-00803, -00804, and -00805.)

Based on concerns about Mr. Collins's ability to assist his attorney due to possible intellectual disability, Mr. Collins's court appointed trial counsel requested a competency evaluation, which was granted by the Honorable Benjamin Culbertson on August 8, 2018. (Order Competency Stand Trial.) The competency evaluation was conducted on September 24, 2018 by Abby L. Mulay, Ph.D., and Emily D. Gottfried, Ph.D. (Competency Evaluation Rep.) The examiners issued a report on September 26, 2018, concluding that Mr. Collins was competent to stand trial. (*Id.*)

A trial was held at the Georgetown County Courthouse in Georgetown, South Carolina, from November 5, 2018, through November 9, 2018, with the Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Jr., presiding. Prior to the beginning of trial, Judge Hyman held a competency hearing pursuant to *State v. Blair*, 275 S.C. 529, 273 S.E.2d 536 (1981). (Tr. p. 10, line 1 – p. 119, line 10.) Judge Hyman adopted the report of the competency evaluators and ruled that Mr. Collins was competent to stand trial. (Tr. p. 117, line 12 – p. 119, line 10.)

Following Judge Hyman's determination of competency, Mr. Collins's counsel moved for reconsideration of the competency finding and requested that an independent evaluation of Mr. Collins be conducted based on his low score on the Montreal Cognitive Assessment ("MoCA") as

conducted by Dr. Mulay and Dr. Gottfried, which indicated possible cognitive impairment. (Tr. p. 151, line 9 – p. 153, line 3.) Judge Hyman denied the motion for reconsideration, concluding that further examination was not needed. (*Id.*)

After ruling that Mr. Collins was competent to stand trial, Judge Hyman held a hearing to determine the voluntariness of Mr. Collins's confession under *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368 (1964). (Tr. p. 119, line 13 - p. 147, line 25; p. 194, line 23 - p. 323, line 10.) At the conclusion of the hearing, Judge Hyman ruled that the state had proven by a preponderance of the evidence that Mr. Collins's confession was voluntarily given. (*Id.*)

On November 9, 2018, the jury convicted Mr. Collins of criminal conspiracy in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-17-410 and arson in the first degree in violation of S.C. Code Ann. § 16-11-110(A). (Tr. p. 870, line 5 – p. 871, line 4.) Judge Hyman then sentenced Mr. Collins to 30 years in prison for the arson conviction and 5 years in prison for the conspiracy conviction to run concurrently with the arson sentence. (Tr. p. 873, line 11 – p. 877, line 14; Sentencing Sheets.)

Mr. Collins timely filed a notice of appeal on November 16, 2018. (Notice App.)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

I. Fire.

In February 2014, Marissa Cohen obtained property insurance in the amount of \$25,000 on a mobile home she rented near Andrews, South Carolina. (Tr. p. 393, line 24 – p. 397, 25; State Ex. 14.) About a month later, Ms. Cohen rented a storage unit and began moving furniture and household appliances out of the home. (Tr. p. 406, line 25 – p. 417, line 22.) To assist her in moving, Ms. Cohen enlisted the services of Benjamin “Mano” Brown. (Tr. p. 424, line 11 – p. 426, line 24; p. 431, line 10 – p. 432, line 24.) According to Mr. Brown, Ms. Cohen stated her intention of burning the home, but she did not identify anyone else involved in her plans. (*Id.*) On the same day that Ms. Cohen was moving items out of her home, she purchased kerosene from a nearby convenience store. (Tr. p. 419, line 6 – p. 423, line 8.)

Shortly after Ms. Cohen moved her furniture out of the home, a fire was reported at the home on the morning of March 29, 2014. (Tr. p. 359, line 21 – p. 361, line 10; State Ex. 10.) When firefighters arrived on the scene, they forcibly entered the home and found a deceased child inside. (Tr. p. 359, line 9 – p. 367, line 8.) The child turned out to be Ms. Cohen’s twelve-year-old son, David Coombs, who was walking home from a birthday party that night and apparently entered the abandoned trailer to escape the rain and fell asleep. (Tr. p. 349, line 11 – p. 352, line 23; p. 387 line 23 – p. 390, line 18; State Ex. 3.)

II. Investigation.

SLED and the Georgetown County Sheriff’s Office initiated an investigation into the fire and death of Mr. Coombs. The SLED investigators quickly concluded that the fire was intentionally set and investigated it as possible arson. (Tr. p. 729, lines 9-13.) The investigators

received an anonymous tip that Ms. Cohen had purchased kerosene just prior to the fire, and they began investigating her connection to the fire. (Tr. p. 729, line 23 – p. 730, p. 18.)

The sheriff's office also interviewed Mr. Collins a couple weeks after the fire upon receiving an anonymous tip about his alleged involvement. (Tr. p. 730, line 22 – p. 731, line 2; p. 761, line 23 – p. 762, line 1.) Mr. Collins informed the investigator that he had been at a club with his nephew on the night of the fire and that he had nothing to do with it. (Tr. p. 731, line 10 – p. 732, line 24; State Ex. 1.) The investigator then drafted Mr. Collins's statement in his own handwriting. (Tr. p. 731, lines 6-7; p. 761, lines 9-22; State Ex. 1.)

The investigators later obtained a search warrant for Mr. Collins's phone. (Tr. p. 736, lines 11-16.) After conducting the search of Mr. Collins's phone, an investigator arranged for Mr. Collins to retrieve his phone at the Andrews Police Department on June 4, 2014. (Tr. p. 736, lines 11-20.) When Mr. Collins arrived to get his phone, the investigators requested that he participate in an interview. (Tr. p. 737, lines 12-16.) Mr. Collins agreed to answer their questions and they took him into a room, where they began interrogating him. (Tr. p. 736, lines 19-22.)

The investigators recorded the interrogation on a personal camcorder, and it began at 10:24 a.m. (Tr. p. 738, lines 20-25; State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 1, 1:00-1:10.) Although the investigators read Mr. Collins his *Miranda* rights prior to starting the interview (Tr. p. 135, line 16 – p. 136, line 19; p. 224, line 18 – p. 225, line 1; State Ex. 2)¹, they later promised him that whatever he told the investigators would not leave the room:

Q: Do you ... Not digging into what we've already said. What do you think? Do you think this was, this fire was start, was it started intentionally, do you think somebody might've started that fire or do you think it was a bad accident?

¹ The investigators did not record the *Miranda* warning provided to Mr. Collins. (Tr. p. 224, line 18 – p. 225, line 1.)

A: I don't, I can't say, I ain't know nothing like about that. I can't really say about that. I can't even say. I ain't one to say the wrong thing. I don't know.

Q: Well you're not going to say the wrong thing.

A: Uh huh.

Q: Whatever you tell me it ain't going to leave this room. This tape is going into my file.

A: Yes, sir.

Q: I'm going to burn a copy for him.

A: Mmmhmm.

Q: And we'll have a copy of this tape. It ain't going to go any further than this room. That's why we have the door shut, blinds pulled ...

A: Yes, sir.

Q: ... there's no sound device in here. I want you to be honest with me and tell me what you think.

(State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 1, 21:00-21:30; Tr. p. 272, line 20 – p. 273, line 2.)²

Mr. Collins began by explaining that he was in physical discomfort from a prior car accident and that he had suffered a stroke about a year earlier. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 1, 3:00-4:30.) He further stated that he had not eaten since the previous night and had problems getting to bed. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 1, 4:30-5:30.)

When questioned about the fire at the beginning of the interrogation, Mr. Collins consistently and repeatedly denied having any involvement in the fire. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 1; Tr. p. 228, line 25 – p. 229, line 6.) He explained his whereabouts on the night

² The investigator making this statement admitted that this representation was not true. (*Id.*)

of the fire, which was consistent with the explanation that he had previously provided to the investigators. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 1, 8:15-12:00.)

After the questioning had continued for approximately 30 minutes, Mr. Collins stated that he didn't know that he "had to answer" questions when he came to the police station that morning and that he was not feeling well. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 1, 29:00-30:00; Tr. p. 234, line 24 – p. 235, line 11.) Nevertheless, the investigators continued interrogating him, claiming that they needed to get to the bottom of the truth so that they could inform members of the community that Mr. Collins was innocent. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 1, 30:00-31:00.) And Mr. Collins continued to insist that he was not involved in the fire. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 1, 30:00-31:30; Tr. p. 228, line 25 – p. 229, line 6.)

The investigators then explained to Mr. Collins their theory of the case that Ms. Cohen had obtained insurance on the mobile home with the plan to burn it and collect the insurance proceeds. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 3, 15:00-23:47.) They further stated that they believed that no one knew that Mr. Coombs would be in the trailer and that no one intended for him to die, but that Ms. Cohen failed to make sure that he did not go to the home before the plan to burn it was executed. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 3, 15:00-23:47.)

Then, one of the investigators said that he wanted Ms. Cohen to go to jail for 34 years for her role in the fire but that he would settle for anyone. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 3, 17:20-17:30.) He repeated that he "wanted" Ms. Cohen but that if Mr. Collins was not truthful in the interview he would come back to get Mr. Collins and that Mr. Collins would likely die in prison. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 3, 21:00-21:45; Tr. p. 236, line 20 – p. 237, line 12.) The investigator then assured Mr. Collins: "It's not you I want; it's Marissa. I promise my right hand to God." (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 3, 22:10-22:20.)

The recording of the interview stopped approximately an hour and a half after the interrogation began. (Tr. p. 263, line 5 – p. 264, line 10.) According to the investigators, the battery on the camcorder died, unbeknownst to them. (Tr. p. 263, line 5 – p. 264, line 20.) As a result, the interrogation continued without being recorded. (*Id.*) Once they discovered that the camcorder was not recording, the investigators replaced the battery and began recording the interrogation again. (*Id.*)

The video of the interrogation recommences with Mr. Collins speaking mid-sentence, confessing to his partial involvement in the fire and stating that his cousin James started the fire. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 0:01-1:30.) However, he denied seeing James starting the fire. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 0:01-1:00.) The investigators then told Mr. Collins if the solicitors thought he was lying they would push for 34 years in prison. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 1:30-2:00.) After that, Mr. Collins explained that Ms. Cohen had approached him and offered him \$5,000 to burn the trailer. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 4:00-5:15.) He also told the investigators that he told James about Ms. Cohen's offer, and James agreed to burn the trailer. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 5:15-6:30.)

At that point, the investigators expressed disbelief in Mr. Collins's account and told him that he needed to start worrying about himself. (State Ex. 3 – Collins Interview DVD 2, 7:00-8:00.) One investigator exclaimed, "Save yourself!" (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 7:00-8:00.) When Mr. Collins failed to provide a satisfactory explanation of the events of the fire to the investigators, the investigator told Mr. Collins that the investigator was not going to speak up for him if he wasn't being totally honest. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 8:00-8:30.) Mr. Collins then provided the investigators more information. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview

DVD 2, 8:30-9:30.) As the investigators continued to press for more details, they told Mr. Collins that he couldn't save anybody but himself. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 13:10-13:20.)

Although Mr. Collins tried to satisfy the investigators by providing more information, he continued to get confused about the details. He expressed uncertainty about what James had used to start the fire, alternating between a lighter, a match, and a lit piece of paper. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 13:30-16:00.) In addition, Mr. Collins provided inconsistent statements about where he was standing when the fire started as he tried to comply with the investigators' requests for more information. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 13:30-17:00.) The investigators repeatedly told Mr. Collins that they were going to let him go home after the interview. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVDs 1, 2, 2B, 3.)

Throughout the interview, the investigators expressed disbelief in Mr. Collins's account. When that would happen, the investigators would suggest answers to their questions and get Mr. Collins to agree to what they believed happened. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2.) In fact, the investigators even suggested at one point that Mr. Collins was attempting to tell the investigators what he believed they wanted to hear. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 22:55-23:20.)

As Mr. Collins attempted to answer their questions, the investigators told him that Ms. Cohen was setting him up. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 32:30-33:00.) At which point, Mr. Collins again tried to explain the events that led to the fire and his participation in it. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 33:00-40:43.) Mr. Collins gave a rambling account in which he admitted to participating in setting the fire, but his timeline was inconsistent with when the fire was actually set and reported. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 37:30-38:00.) In response

to this inconvenient fact, the investigators then convinced Mr. Collins that he was not sure of the timeline. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2, 38:00-38:30.)

As the interrogation continued, the investigators continued to tell Mr. Collins that they were there to “help” him. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 1:25-1:45; Tr. p. 236, lines 13-19.) They then told him that Ms. Cohen had more money they did, thereby falsely implying that she had received insurance proceeds from the fire, and that she was going to hire lawyers to defend her who would blame Mr. Collins for the fire. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 1:45-3:00.)

At that point, the investigators ended the interrogation and stated that they wanted Mr. Collins to write a statement. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 3:30-4:00.) Mr. Collins requested that the investigators write the statement and that he be allowed to sign it because he could not “spell too good.” (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 3:30-4:30.) The investigators agreed that they would write the statement but that it would be a verbatim transcription of what Mr. Collins said. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 4:30-5:00.) They then requested that Mr. Collins provide a verbal statement for the investigators to transcribe. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 4:00-4:30.)

Mr. Collins’s oral statement began, “I did not do it.” (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 4:30-4:45.) The investigators then interrupted Mr. Collins and coached him on what to write. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 4:45-5:00.) On instruction from the investigators, Mr. Collins stated that “Tina” approached him about burning the home. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 5:00-5:30.) The investigators interrupted Mr. Collins again and asked if he knew “Tina’s” real name. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 5:00-5:30.) Although there had been repeated references and discussions about Ms. Cohen’s name being “Marissa,” Mr. Collins

explained that “Tina” was the only name he knew. (State Ex. 3 – Collins Interview DVD 2B, 5:00-5:30.) Then at the prompting of the investigators, Mr. Collins stated that James had agreed to burn the home and that he was with James when James lit the fire. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 5:30-17:00.) Then he stated that “Marissa” had called him later in the night, just minutes after not being able to remember Marissa’s name. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 15:00-15:15.) Mr. Collins then signed the statement that had been transcribed by the investigator. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 19:00-19:25.)

At the conclusion of the interrogation, the investigators repeated what they had previously said, which was that Mr. Collins had gotten himself on the track to “save” himself by confessing to his participation in the fire. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview Vol. DVD 23:30-24:05.) One investigator added further that “if you’re helping us, we’re helping you.” (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 28:30-28:40.) The interrogation concluded at 1:51 p.m., approximately 3 ½ hours after it began. (State Ex. 3 - Collins Interview DVD 2B, 30:45-30:58; Tr. p. 240, lines 6-10.)

On June 5, 2014, arrest warrants were issued for Mr. Collins on charges of arson, first degree, and criminal conspiracy. (Arrest Warrants 2014A221080082 and 2014A221080082.) The grand jury for Georgetown County issued indictments against Mr. Collins on August 20, 2014 for criminal conspiracy; arson, first degree; and murder. (Indictments 2014-GS-22-00803, -00804, and -00805.)

III. Competency Evaluation & Hearing.

Upon the issuance of Judge Culbertson’s order for a competency evaluation, Mr. Collins was evaluated by two forensic psychologists at the Medical University of South Carolina under the purview of the Department of Mental Health. (Order Competence Stand Trial; Competency

Evaluation Rep. p. 1.) The primary evaluator was Abby Mulay, who testified in a competency hearing for the first time in Mr. Collins's case. (Tr. p. 13, line 12 – p. 14, line 7.)

The evaluators conducted a clinical interview of Mr. Collins and discovered that he had a history of childhood abuse, including an incident in which his father had pushed him to the concrete as a child. (Competency Evaluation Rep. p. 2; Tr. p. 17, lines 2-9.) As a result of this incident, Mr. Collins suffered a concussion and was hospitalized for two weeks. (Competency Evaluation Rep. p. 3.) In school, Mr. Collins was placed in special education classes because he was "slow at learning." (*Id.*) Mr. Collins could not remember how far he made it school but estimated the he left school in either 7th, 8th, or 9th grade. (*Id.*) He also reported that he suffered a stroke in April 2013 which causes him to forget things. (*Id.*)

As part of the evaluation, Mr. Collins's medical records were reviewed. These records confirmed that Mr. Collins suffered a stroke in April 2013, less than a year before the fire. (Competency Evaluation Rep. p. 4.) They also showed that, as a result of the stroke, he experienced expressive aphasia, i.e. partial loss of the ability to produce language, and altered mental status and dysarthria, i.e., difficult to understand articulation of speech. (*Id.*) At the competency hearing, the evaluator testified that a neurologist who treated Mr. Collins for the stroke concluded that Mr. Collins's appearance was consistent with encephalopathy, which is a neurological disorder. (Tr. p. 18, line 13 – p. 20, line 7.) However, the evaluator stated that she was not a medical doctor and that neurological disorders were outside of her expertise. (Tr. p. 18, lines 13-17.)

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