ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY
The Honorable Larry B. Hyman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2018-002056

RECEIVED
OCT 03 2019
SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

RANDY COLLINS,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

SCOTT MATTHEWS
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

Post Office Drawer 1276
Conway, SC 29526
(843)-915-5460

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM GEORGETOWN COUNTY

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly admitted Appellant's voluntary statement because Appellant agreed to be interviewed by law enforcement, waived his rights to an attorney, was given multiple breaks during the interview, admitted he was not threatened by law enforcement, and acknowledged at trial that his statement was true.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in admitting his confession because it was not voluntarily given. Appellant argues the statement was induced by deception, promises of leniency, and threats of punishment. Appellant's argument is meritless. When considering the totality of the circumstances, Appellant's confession was voluntary. Appellant was not in custody and was free to leave the interrogation at any time. (R. 146-47, 228). Appellant was read his Miranda rights and he waived those rights in writing. (R. 144, 827). Appellant was told that he would be free to go at the end of the interview and would not be arrested no matter what he said. (R.147, 677, Court's Exhibit #3). Appellant was allowed to go home at the end of the interview. Appellant was given multiple breaks to use the bathroom and smoke a cigarette and was allowed to drink a soda during the interview. (R. 145-46, 232-34). Appellant was not promised any specific relief and was only told that law enforcement would speak with the solicitor on his behalf. (R. 147, State's Exhibit #3, disk 2, part 2). Appellant's statement implicated himself, but ultimately was self-serving and attempted to place blame on his co-defendant, James Miller. (R. 829-30). Finally, when Appellant testified on his own behalf at the Jackson v. Denno hearing, he admitted that his written statement was true. (R. 265). When each of the aforementioned circumstances is considered, the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in finding Appellant's confession was voluntary.

“[A] defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession.” Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368,

376 (1964). A defendant has a constitutional right to object to “the use of the confession and to have a fair hearing and a reliable determination on the issue of voluntariness.” Denno 378 U.S. at 377. “The process for determining whether a statement is voluntary, and thus admissible, is bifurcated; it involves determinations by both the judge and the jury.” Miller, 375 S.C. at 379, 652 S.E.2d at 448. “Initially, the trial judge must conduct an evidentiary hearing in the absence of a jury. At this phase of the proceedings, the State must show the statement was voluntarily made by a preponderance of the evidence.” State v. Breeze, 379 S.C. 538, 543, 665 S.E.2d 247, 250 (Ct. App. 2008). “If the statement is found to have been given voluntarily, it is then submitted to the jury, where its voluntariness must be established beyond a reasonable doubt. Miller, 375 S.C. at 379, 652 S.E.2d at 448.

“In determining whether a confession was given ‘voluntarily’, this Court must consider the totality of the circumstances surrounding the defendant’s giving the confession.” State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 566, 647 S.E.2d 144, 164 (2007). Ultimately, an appellate court must decide whether “‘a defendant’s will was overborne’ by the circumstances surrounding the giving of a confession.” Dickerson v. U.S., 530 U.S. 428, 434 (2000) (quoting Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973)). Appellate courts in South Carolina have recognized a variety of factors to consider in the totality of the circumstances analysis. Those factors include: “background, experience, and conduct of the accused; age; length of custody; police misrepresentations; isolation of a minor from his or her parent; threats of violence; and promises of leniency.” Miller, 375 S.C. at 386, 652 S.E.2d at 452.

“A statement induced by a promise of leniency is involuntary only if so connected with the inducement as to be a consequence of the promise.” State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 246-47 (1990). “[M]isrepresentations of evidence by police, although a relevant

fact, do not render an otherwise voluntary confession inadmissible.” State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 244, 471 S.E.2d 689, 695 (1996), overruled on other grounds by State v. Burdette, Op. No. 27910 (S.C. Sup. Ct. filed July 31, 2019) (Shearouse Adv. Sh. No. 31 at 8). “A defendant’s mental condition in and of itself does not render a statement involuntary in violation of due process.” State v. Hill, 361 S.C. 297, 306, 604 S.E.2d 696, 701 (2004). The voluntariness of a waiver of rights “can be discerned from the fact that the statement which followed it was self-serving and was an attempt on [a defendant’s] part to cast the blame on his co-defendant.” State v. Pendergrass, 270 S.C. 1, 8, 239 S.E.2d 750, 753 (1977).

Because Appellant has alleged multiple reasons why his confession was involuntary, it is instructive to address each reason individually.

Misrepresentation and Deception

Appellant asserts that he was coerced into making an inculpatory statement because law enforcement misled him by suggesting that no one else would see the tape of his interview.

Agent Hardee did make one statement early in Appellant’s interview that whatever Appellant told him “aint gonna leave this room.” (State’s Exhibit #3, Disk 1, part 1, 21:10-21:35).

Appellant correctly asserts that the question of whether a statement can be considered voluntary after police make a promise of confidentiality is an issue of first impression in South Carolina.

The State concedes that at the very least Hardee’s statement was problematic and would be an improper tactic to use if such a promise was used in a repeated manner². However, Hardee only made this statement one time approximately 21 minutes into a three and a half hour interview.

Neither Hardee nor Garrett repeated this statement or anything similar to it for the remainder of

² Despite the inappropriate nature of Hardee’s statement, Appellant acknowledged on cross-examination during the Jackson v. Denno hearing that he was familiar with Miranda rights and knew that his statements could be used against him in court. (R. 261-62).

the interview. Furthermore, Hardee's statement did not immediately precede Appellant's confession. Appellant continued to deny any involvement in the crime for at least one hour after Hardee made the statement³. In fact, as Appellant acknowledges in his brief, even in Appellant's confession he continued to downplay his responsibility for the fire and claimed he did not actually set the fire. (Initial Brief of Appellant 10). Appellant consistently claimed that Miller started the fire and he just happened to be there watching. (R. 829-30). Therefore, it is unlikely that one statement by Hardee which occurred approximately three hours before Appellant's written confession overbore Appellant's will. When examining the totality of the circumstances, Hardee's lone statement had little effect on Appellant's eventual confession and certainly did not overbear Appellant's will to the point of making the confession involuntary.

Appellant cites three cases from other states to support his position. Each case cited by Appellant has a similar fact pattern to the current case but they also differ in important ways. In Redmond v. People, Redmond was told by law enforcement that the police would only take notes on the portion of his confession that involved his co-defendant and that anything he told them that didn't involve his co-defendant would not be used against him. Redmond v. People, 180 Colo. 24, 26, 501 P.2d 1051, 1052 (1972). The Colorado Supreme Court ruled that it was impossible to tell from the confusing agreement law enforcement proposed which portions of the confession would be used against Redmond and which ones wouldn't. The situation in Redmond is not present in the current case. No promise was made to Appellant about some portions of his confession being used against him, but others not being used against him.

³ It is unclear when Appellant first began to acknowledge his role in the crime because the video recorder used by Agent Hardee ran out of power after approximately 87 minutes. (R. 231-32, 676, State's Exhibit #3). When the recording resumes, Appellant is drawing a diagram of the trailer and explaining the chain of events on March 29, 2014 to Hardee and Garrett.

In Porter v. State, Porter was explicitly told immediately after his Miranda warnings were read to him that his statement would not be used against him, but would instead be used to assist a secretary in typing notes for an interview. Porter v. State, 143 Ga. App. 640, 642, 239 S.E.2d 694, 696 (Ga. Ct. App. 1977). Here, Appellant was read his Miranda rights and no such promise was made to him. Hardee did not make his statement regarding information provided by Appellant not leaving the room until 21 minutes after the interview began. The final case cited by Appellant, U.S. v. Preston, features an extreme example of coercion by law enforcement that would not be acceptable in any court in this country. In addition suggesting that if he confessed Preston could move on with his life after apologizing to the victim, law enforcement also presented him with “the choice of confessing to a heinous crime or to a less heinous crime; rejected his denials of guilt; instructed him on the responses they would accept; and fed him the details of the crime to which they wanted him to confess.” U.S. v. Preston, 751 F.3d 1008, 1010 (9th Cir. 2014). None of the aforementioned coercive conduct in Preston took place in this case. Neither Hardee nor Garrett promised Appellant he would not be prosecuted. Law enforcement merely promised Appellant that he would be allowed to go home at the conclusion of the interview and they fulfilled that promise.

Promises of Leniency

Appellant next asserts that his confession was involuntary because of promises of leniency made to Appellant by law enforcement. Specifically, Appellant argues that law enforcement encouraged Appellant to save himself by confessing to the crime and implied that he would be spared from harsh punishment if he cooperated. Appellant’s assertions are not supported by the record. Appellant was not encouraged to save himself by confessing to the crime, but rather Appellant was encouraged not to lie to save his family member, James Miller.

There are two relevant portions of the interview where law enforcement encourages Appellant not to lie to protect Miller. The first exchange occurs when law enforcement is asking Appellant about Miller's role in the fire. The following exchange occurs:

Garrett: See I understand, this is what I understand. I understand that James is your nephew

Appellant: Mm hmm

Garrett: That you guys are family, but you got to understand that trying to lie to save him or you at this point is not going to work. Okay? So we need to know the truth. Now only thing you got to worry about is Randy.

(State's Exhibit #3, disk 2, part 1 7:00-7:40). The second exchange occurred a few minutes later:

Garrett: Did you see [Miller] or did you not see [Miller]?

Hardee: I know your stomach is tore up right now, but you're getting this off your chest.

Garrett: And, and this is about you. I mean you know, again, you cannot save anybody but yourself. I'm sorry, but that's just the fact of the matter. So, did you see, did you, what happened?

(State's Exhibit #3, disk 2, part 1, 13:00-13:30). Appellant was not told to save himself by confessing to the crime, but he was encouraged not to lie to protect a family member.

Appellant was not promised anything in exchange for his confession. Garrett and Hardee did not say they would speak to the Solicitor on Appellant's behalf until after Appellant had already confessed. (State's Exhibit #3, disk 2, part 2). Even when Hardee and Garrett said they would speak to the Solicitor, no specific promises were made. Garrett told Appellant: "I'm going to speak with the Solicitor and try to get you as much help as I can okay?" (State's Exhibit #3, disk 2, part 2 29:00-29:05). Similarly, Hardee told Appellant: "Like I said, we're not making any promises, but we will go talk to the Solicitor. I'll go talk to the Solicitor with [Garrett] and let them know what happened today." (State's Exhibit #3, disk 2, part 2 29:45-30:00). Not only

did law enforcement not promise Appellant anything other than speaking to the solicitor on his behalf, but they did not make that promise until after Appellant had already confessed. Therefore, Appellant's confession had nothing to do with a promise of leniency by law enforcement.

Contrary to Appellant's assertion, this case is not similar to State v. Peake. In Peake a police officer guaranteed Peake that the State would not seek the death penalty if Peake gave a statement. State v. Peake, 291 S.C. 138, 139, 352 S.E.2d 487, 488 (1987). Our Supreme Court ruled Peake's statement was a product of the officer's promise of leniency. Here, Garrett and Hardee merely promised to speak to the solicitor on Appellant's behalf after he had already given a confession.

Appellant's Lack of Intelligence

Appellant next argues that his lack of intelligence rendered his confession involuntary. Appellant makes a conclusory argument that because he did not go far in school and suffered a recent stroke, his statement could not have been voluntary. In support of this contention, Appellant cites to his self-serving testimony given at the Jackson v. Denno hearing. In the relevant portion of Appellant's testimony, Appellant claims to not remember signing his Miranda waiver and that he did not understand his Miranda rights. (R. 250-52). However, on cross-examination Appellant admitted he was familiar with his Miranda rights and recited two of those rights. When asked what the police say when they arrest someone, Appellant responded "You're under arrest. You have the right to remain silence" and "Any, any chance you talk will and could be used against you in a court of law." (R. 261, lines 21-22, 24-25). Not only did Appellant acknowledge he understood his Miranda rights, but he admitted when asked by the trial judge,

that he was not threatened by Hardee and Garrett and his written statement was true. (R. 264-65, 829-30).

Appellant's testimony lacked credibility because of its' self-serving nature and its' many contradictions. Appellant demonstrated an ability to remember facts that were favorable to him and not remember unfavorable ones. Indeed, the trial judge noted Appellant's selective memory in making his ruling regarding the admissibility of the confession. The trial judge remarked "he only forgets things that may be harmful to him." (R. 275, lines 1-2). Appellant's ability to rationalize his behavior and deflect blame to others demonstrates that he had the requisite intelligence to waive his rights and make a voluntary statement.

Even if this Court finds Appellant's testimony credible, Appellant still failed to present any evidence regarding his lack of intelligence. The only expert testimony presented to the trial judge came from the State's experts, who both opined that Appellant was competent to stand trial. Appellant did not present any expert testimony of his own regarding his mental condition. Therefore, the only evidence in the record regarding Appellant's lack of intelligence was his own self-serving testimony and even that testimony lacked credibility because of its' inherent contradictions.

Length of Interrogation

Finally, Appellant argues his statement was involuntary because of the length of the interrogation, Appellant's lack of access to food, and Appellant's lack of sleep. The record plainly contradicts Appellant's argument. After picking up his phones, Appellant agreed to remain at the town hall and answer the investigators' questions. (R. 673). Appellant was cooperative throughout the interview and even offered to continue to help law enforcement with their investigation at the end of the interview. (State's Exhibit #3, disk 2, part 2, 28:10-28:30).

Appellant was allowed multiple bathroom breaks as well as cigarette breaks. (R. 145-46, 232-34). Appellant was allowed to drink a soda by law enforcement, and although Appellant did not have any food with him, Garrett testified that law enforcement would have provided Appellant food if Appellant said he was hungry. (R. 145, 675-76). Appellant was not suffering from a lack of sleep. At the beginning of his interview with police, Appellant said he went to bed the previous night at 1:00 AM and got up at 10:00 AM. (State's Exhibit #3, disk 1, part 1, 5:00-5:30). Thus, Appellant got nine hours of sleep and was not sleep deprived. Finally, the overall length of the interview was not excessive when considering the number of breaks given to Appellant during the interview.

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